Joint Economic Development Organization Board Minutes December 13, 2012

City of Topeka Council Chambers, 214 SE 7th Street, Topeka, Kansas, Thursday, December 13, 2012.

The Joint Economic Development Organization (JEDO) Board members met at 6:00 p.m. with the following voting Board members present: City of Topeka Council members Larry Wolgast and Karen Hiller; City of Topeka Mayor William W. Bunten; and Shawnee County Commissioners Shelly Buhler, Mary M. Thomas and Ted Ensley – 6. Absent: Councilman Andrew Gray

<u>Also present were nonvoting JEDO Board members</u>: Council members Chad Manspeaker and Sylvia Ortiz. Absent: Council members Bob Archer, John Alcala, Denise Everhart, and Richard Harmon

<u>Others present who presented and/or spoke before the Board</u>: Dawn Wright, Vice-President of Economic Development for GO Topeka; Maynard Oliverius, Board Chair of GO Topeka; Doug Kinsinger, President and CEO of GO Topeka/Greater Topeka Chamber of Commerce; Brad Owen, CPA at Mize Houser & Company, P.A.; Jo Feldmann, Vice-President of Existing Business for GO Topeka; Cyndi Hermocillo Legg, Vice-President of Entrepreneurial and Minority Business Development for GO Topeka; Rich Eckert, Shawnee County Counselor; Jeff Wietharn, Legal Counsel for GO Topeka; Joseph Ledbetter; Matthew W. Gassen, President of Winston/Meriwether, LLC; Carol Marple and Lazone Grays, President and CEO of IBSA, Inc.

Commissioner Buhler called the meeting to order.

ITEM NO. 1: APPROVAL of the Minutes of the JEDO Board meeting of July 25, 2012.

Commissioner Buhler asked if there are any changes or corrections to the July 25, 2012 meeting minutes.

Mayor Bunten indicated after reading the minutes from front to back, he found no issues and moved to approve the minutes of the JEDO Board meeting of July 25, 2012. Commissioner Thomas seconded.

Councilman Manspeaker questioned if they were going to allow for public comment after each agenda item.

Commissioner Buhler indicated they were going to follow JEDO's public comment policy that was adopted several meetings ago that states that they have public comment on every actionable item, so pretty much everything but Item No. 6 on this agenda is an actionable item.

Councilwoman Hiller indicated she had made a note to ask to have these minutes or some minutes reflect the retreat that was held on November 17, 2012 and she sees that they did get a handout.

Commissioner Buhler indicated there is a summary that has been provided on the JEDO and GO Topeka Economic Partnership workshop that they had and so those will be reflected on the websites.

Councilwoman Hiller just wanted to make sure since that workshop was not a formal business meeting that somehow this was reflected in the JEDO minutes, if somehow that could be done with comments now or later, it was an excellent session and she really appreciated it happening and wanted it to be part of their records. It will be on the websites but how do they make sure there is some reference in the minutes here. The minutes from July indicate that Councilman Manspeaker had indicated doing something like that, people talked about it, but she doesn't want it to disappear as far as their business records.

Commissioner Buhler stated that it wasn't a formal session, they did not take any action at that session. She would ask counsel, Rich Eckert, Shawnee County Counselor for his suggestions.

Mr. Eckert indicated just like the JEDO Board's approval of the minutes from July 25, 2012, he would suggest just simply make a motion to accept the report and then it would actually be in these minutes when they approve tonight's minutes at the next JEDO meeting.

Councilwoman Hiller indicated she would like to do that; move to accept the report, if that would need to be added to the agenda this evening.

Mr. Eckert indicated yes it would need a motion and a second and voted on to add that as an additional item.

Commissioner Ensley moved to add the summary from the work session held November 17, 2012 to the agenda. Commissioner Thomas seconded. Motion passed unanimously.

Commissioner Buhler indicated moving back, they do have motions on approving the July 25, 2012 minutes and they will take public comment at this time for that item.

Public Comment: Joseph Ledbetter indicated that the minutes pretty much look accurate as he requested and he is sure as others have. It looks like they are verbatim and he likes that style. His concern is that in the minutes it does talk about public comment at the last meeting, which was the only action meeting they have had this whole year besides this one and he thinks they ought to allow public comment at the end of this meeting like they did at the July 25th meeting.

Motion to approve the July 25, 2012 JEDO meeting minutes passed unanimously.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that they would now need a motion to approve the summary from the work session held November 17, 2012 since it had been added to the agenda. *Councilwoman Hiller moved to approve the summary. Mayor Bunten seconded. Motion passed unanimously.*

ITEM NO. 2: CONSIDERATION of possible Incentive Agreement for Del Monte Corporation – presented by Doug Kinsinger and Dawn Wright.

Dawn Wright, Vice-President of Economic Development for GO Topeka indicated they are coming before JEDO this evening to ask them to consider this possible incentive for, what they were calling Project Miller, which is in fact, Del Monte Corporation. Del Monte has been located in Topeka for ten years in what was previously the Heinz facility, and continues to grow and expand in Topeka and Shawnee County. Employment at the facility continues to grow and the Del Monte Corporation in Topeka is currently at over 400 employees. Del Monte has been a community partner and major employer that we can all be proud of. They are pleased this evening to have Del Monte officials in the audience tonight as they present this proposal incentive to JEDO. She also would like to mention that this incentive is potentially what gives Topeka a competitive advantage over other locations that are being considered for expansion. Additionally, this incentive would be a portion of the entire incentive package as the state of Kansas will also have some offerings on the table for Del Monte. Economic Impact in Topeka and Shawnee County over a 10 Year Period

•	Total Direct Jobs Retained	23
•	Total New Jobs	10
•	Total Direct and Indirect Jobs	76
•	Total Direct and Indirect Salaries	\$42,070,866
•	Total Capital Investment by Company	\$12,600,000
•	Taxable Sales and Purchases Expected in Shawnee County	\$23,477,406
	Total Net Benefits to City and County	\$538,826

Based on Incentive of up to a total of \$140,000 for 23 retained jobs and 10 new jobs created:

- Average annual rate of return on incentives over each of the next ten years = 38.5%
- Payback period for incentives = 2.4 years

Incentives to be offered per contract:

- Capital Investment incentive on \$12.6 M = \$45,500 (to be paid within 3 months of company showing the total new investment)
- Retention of 23 new jobs at average wage of \$48,000 = **\$57,500** (\$2,500 per job, payable in 3 annual installments of \$833.33, beginning May 2014)
- Creation of 10 new jobs = \$37,000
 (\$3,500 per job (6) at average wage of \$45,000 and \$4,000 per job (4) per average wage of \$65,000, jobs must be added by Dec. 31, 2014, incentives paid in May of following calendar year of jobs added)

\$140,000

Total incentives offered =

Ms. Wright would like to add that these jobs must be retained for a period of ten years. This contract, as with all JEDO contract, is a performance based incentive and the company will participate with GO Topeka in an annual review to ensure that they are in compliance with the contract.

Mayor Bunten stated that he recalled in GO Topeka meetings where this has been discussed that this company is very pleased with being in Topeka and appreciates greatly the incentive programs that we have. He thinks that is important because they have had a number of expansions here before this and of course they are a solid company and we will get the money back. Mayor Bunten would like to thank Ms. Wright and her staff for the good work they have done, not only on this instance but on many others as well.

Public Comment: No one sought public comment on this agenda item.

Councilman Wolgast moved to approve the incentive agreement for Project Miller as presented. Commissioner Ensley seconded. Motion passed unanimously.

Councilman Manspeaker stated he would like to point out that Del Monte Corporation is a member of the Kanas State Chamber of Commerce and he would encourage them to reconsider that as they have reduced quite a bit of our tax base within our own community by changing some state laws and statutes and that was the State Chamber that specifically endorsed that and pushed that issue. He is happy to help

businesses in our community but he would also like them to help our community as well by not trying to diminish our tax base.

ITEM NO. 3: DISCUSSION of 2013 Economic Development Business Plan and Budget and 2013 Contract Proposal(s) with possible action – presented by Doug Kinsinger/Brad Owen/Dawn Wright/Jo Feldmann/Cyndi Hermocillo Legg.

Maynard Oliverius, Board Chair of GO Topeka would like to thank them for letting him open this discussion. Yesterday he sent all of them a communication advising that they are about to conclude a private funding campaign for raising private funds from the private sector business community to help with the funding of the operation of GO Topeka. That funding will allow them to extend more of the public sector dollars for the purpose of land acquisition, infrastructure improvements, incentives and general support of economic development in the community. He would quickly like to touch on three things, the last being the results of that campaign.

First, to summarize a brief history of GO Topeka, talk about the campaign purpose and then talk about the campaign results. As many of them know, GO Topeka was formed in the year 2000 and was created by some of the members of the Chamber of Commerce and leaders in the community, some who are here tonight, for the singular purpose and vision of economic development, to retain and grow existing business and to attract new business to the community. When they started, they had no money, no staff, all volunteers, they did form a corporation and they grew that corporation and the Board membership to 35 members of our community. In 2000, Topeka and Shawnee County passed a ¹/₄ cent sales tax for the purpose of economic development. In 2001, JEDO was formed to oversee those funds. In 2002, Doug Kinsinger was hired by GO Topeka and the Chamber of Commerce and in that same year GO Topeka contracted with JEDO for the purpose of administering those dollars under JEDO's direction and oversight and again focusing on economic development. So it was a partnership really between the private sector and the public sector in the use of those funds. In 2004, again Topeka and Shawnee County voted on a ¹/₂ cent sales tax and GO Topeka continues to serve as the administrative arm of those funds. The Board of GO Topeka expanded some of its services in to entrepreneurial development, assisting minorities and women – helping them to achieve ownership of their own business, workforce development – a major initiative, and some of the seed money was used to start Washburn Technical School out at Forbes that just opened a couple of weeks ago - marvelous facility. In addition, they have been involved with working with Goodyear and keeping them in the community, Burlington Northern as they moved facilities from Iowa to here, working with the 190th Air Refueling, Industrial Chrome, Home Depot, Bimbo Bakeries and Mars. So a lot of initiative and work towards economic development.

The history and the purpose of the campaign – clearly GO Topeka relies in part on the public sector funding in order to fund their sales and marketing activities. GO Topeka's goal since the beginning is to eventually be self-sufficient. So in 2000, they reached out to some of the business community and they raised some money. In 2003, they went on a five year campaign and raised some more money. In 2008, they went back to the business community and they raised \$1.9 million. So in the current campaign that really starts in January, 2013, they set a goal a number of months ago to raise \$2.5 million. They wanted to double the investment of those that had already been in the campaign in the past. They went to them and asked them to consider doubling their investment. They wanted new investors and they wanted individuals, people in the community who are may be retired, but have worked in this community and have done well. So they went out with that as their thrust.

He would like to close by saying they have been extremely successful. With the \$2.5 million goal, they actually announced last night that they have raised 4,047,905. Just a profile of those results – they surpassed this year's goal campaign of 2.5 million by 62%; 111 investors put investment in to

those dollars; 42% of those were first time business investors, 13% were individuals who used their own funds to provide dollars into that campaign for an average across the 111 investors of \$36,490 per investor, pledged over the next five years. As JEDO listens to the rest of the presentation tonight, they hope that this demonstrates to JEDO and the rest of the community a very strong commitment by the private sector and GO Topeka to the economic development and growth of this community, to the leadership that has stepped up to provide funding for this campaign and finally to the partnership that they feel they have, GO Topeka and the Board, with JEDO and that they are acting in JEDO's interests and in the public's interest in the use of the dollars that they expend on economic development.

Councilman Wolgast indicated he would like to, on behalf of the JEDO Board, compliment the leadership in this initiative in this fundraising effort. It speaks so much to the fact that there is integrity here; there is honesty, forthrightness that has to exist in order to raise funds for an organization. He would also like to compliment the volunteers who do this on their own. Going out and raising funds is never easy, but it also shows that we have a good cause that they are successful.

Mr. Oliverius thanked Councilman Wolgast and stated that he is just part of a great team of leaders that did this and they are all a part of this community, they all win or lose together, so we are winning with this campaign and with what you do for them.

Doug Kinsinger, President and CEO of GO Topeka/Greater Topeka Chamber of Commerce thanked JEDO for the opportunity to overview their plan and budget for them this evening. GO Topeka Economic Partnership serves as our community leader in economic growth opportunities for Topeka and Shawnee County. What he would like to do briefly is highlight a few of their unique advantages they have as an organization and then they will have key members of their staff team come forward and outline each of their respective areas of their programs. First of all he would like to emphasize that their primary focus is bringing in new, outside dollars to our community through either the recruitment of jobs or new capital investment, or business creation and also the retention and expansion of existing businesses. But secondly and an equally important function of their efforts is marketing Topeka and Shawnee County on an internationally, nationally, regionally and a locally basis. They use a unique marketing strategy that is a complex mixture of creativity, strategy, relationships and dozens of components that come together that form a comprehensive marketing initiative. They do that by working through key target sector industries, they work to support our existing businesses, and they also work to grow entrepreneurial development. And in 2013, GO Topeka will work to have more of a presence in international markets to develop some of the international prospects that have developed over the last 12 months. The foundation of any successful economic development organization is based on the relationships that it forms, both within and outside our community. Those relationships include groups such as Shawnee County taxpayers, existing employers, companies within our targeted industries, site location consultants, local, state, regional, and national partners; those are all key relationships that they have developed over the years. They are a base of trust and their partners in those areas rely on the expertise that GO Topeka has developed. He wants to emphasize that the GO Topeka team has decades of economic development experience and working in economic development. Their experiences in marketing communities and also in organizational administration, they have those trusting relationships with all the stakeholders, including their professional expertise in economic development. Those relationships include groups like the Kansas City Economic Development Council, Kansas City Smartport, the Kansas Department of Commerce, the Kansas Department of Transportation, other state agencies, local and regional educational institutions and the Governor's office. All of those relationships have been successful in helping them land new company locations and also existing company expansions. As he begins to go through the business plan, he wants to make sure they understand what sets them apart from others. One is that they have a proprietary database that they have developed over the years and that includes information on local demographic data, a lot of detailed information on our quality of life, public infrastructure information, business

assistance programs, real estate taxes, our fees and regulations, our comprehensive sites and buildings database, our own SwiftSite website that highlights all those sites and buildings to the world (http://gis.bartwest.com/gtcc/#/Home). And then they strategically try to market that database to their target industries and they use their website, they use recruitment from specific geographically targeted areas, they use electronic, social media and print advertising, they go directly to site consultants, they go to trade shows, they use multi-media presentations and they also use the public relations outreach effort. So all of those efforts combined together, and they try to highlight the best things about our business environment. And they can see, as they talk about some of those areas that are important to them, those areas of our business environment include proximity to their markets and he is happy to say, they are hopefully going to be making strong advances this next year as they work in recruiting air service to our community. They also feel that local labor skills and the availability of labor is important and in recent years they have invested in the robotics program at Highland Park High School and as they heard Mr. Oliverius say, they have also recently invested in the Advance Systems Technology Program of Washburn Tech which has greatly increased their technical training ability, especially in the manufacturing area. They have also worked hard over the years on quality of life issues and he is very appreciative and proud of the decision that the City Council made this past Tuesday evening on progress that we will be making to our downtown. But other things, such as our total infrastructure, cost of doing business, our proximity to major universities and the base of our existing industries here are all components of a strong business climate. He would like to highlight some of their major functions and program areas that they do for JEDO:

- Existing Business, Expansion and Retention of existing primary employers
- Workforce Development focused on developing the future workforce
- New Business Attraction of new primary jobs and investments
- Minority and Women Owned Business Development working to assist and grow minority and women owned businesses
- Entrepreneurial Development focused on cultivating and growing potential primary employers
- Research supporting the overall strategy of economic development

He would also highlight that GO Topeka has been the developer of two commerce parks on behalf of our community - Central Crossing Commerce Park and Kanza Fire Commerce Park. They have also used funds that JEDO has allowed them in their budget to build the infrastructure to serve these parks and also they take the responsibility of maintenance of these parks and would remind them that they use the land in these parks plus the proceeds from the sales tax to jointly offer incentives to companies to locate in our community. So, why do companies chose one community over another? It is a combination of all different things. Everywhere from operating costs, to looking at skilled labor, to maybe perhaps they want to establish a presence in a specific time zone, diversifying risk, they may like the CEO or one of the key executives is moving and they are looking to improve their own quality of life. Their key as economic development professionals is to understand a company's needs and then portray our community in the most positive light and they think that is most effectively done by providing a detailed and accurate data about our community and also providing very detailed comparisons to our competing areas. So how can we make Topeka and Shawnee County more competitive? We must look strategically on how we can improve our infrastructure, our business climate, our educational and workforce development training programs, our quality of life and reminds them that a community is not only judged by where it is today but where it is going. So here in the next few minutes they will see an overview of each of the program areas discussed. To give an overview of the budget, they have used Mize Houser & Company to prepare their budget, so first they will have an overview of the budget presentation.

Brad Owens with Mize Houser & Company wanted to refer the Board to page 5 of Item 3 in the materials. First expenditure items listed are salaries, payroll taxes and benefits - these have been reduced about 25% from the 2012 budget largely due to the use of additional private funds to cover those costs and those expenses represent about 7% of the total expenditures for the year. He will point about that the Minority and Women-Owned Business Development (MWBD) line is 10% of the sales tax funds in accordance with the contract. That does include staff that is dedicated to that function. Other operating expenditures make up about 5% of the budget, they show an increase of about 3%. If they go on down to the incentive and site expenditures – anticipated expenditures on current commitments – the \$2,106,476 figure represents the commitments that have been made under existing incentive contracts. The largest part of that is Mars which makes up about \$1.4 million of that total. Indirect site/incentive expenditures are \$50,000 - that is taxes, maintenance, some legal fees and compliance monitoring cost. New incentives are \$350,000; that is a significant estimate. With incentive agreements, we are never sure how quickly they are going to come in, they pay out over a period of years, so this is just an amount set aside by management for new incentives. 49th Street improvements, for several years GO Topeka has been aware that 49th Street may need improvements that goes through Central Commerce Park, so they have earmarked about 1/5th of the estimated costs of those improvements. Kanza Fire Infrastructure Design – there is some additional design work that needs to be done related to utilities. And the next item, \$1,163,732 is about half of the estimated cost of that work. There is some signage and entryway work that needs to be done and they have set aside \$75,000 for that. So total incentives and site expenditures budgeted is \$4,180,885. That is a quick overview of the budget.

Commissioner Thomas questioned if that includes the item they just approved for the Del Monte incentive.

Mr. Owens indicated yes that the \$350,000 budgeted would cover that. That is under new incentives.

Councilman Wolgast inquired when the Board receives the reports from the different individual departments, will they discuss such things as the changing of new business attraction budget line rather than have Mr. Owen discuss that.

Mr. Owens indicated yes.

Jo Feldmann, Vice-President of Existing Business for GO Topeka gave a presentation on key points related to Existing Business, Expansion and Retention of existing primary employers. About 80% of our growth in jobs comes from our existing industries, so it is vitally important that we continue to serve those businesses in our community. Their goal is to listen, to try to help problem-solve, have face-to-face, one-on-one meetings to build those relationships so that we can start to develop an early warning system if there are problems starting to develop with that business. They also like to talk about resources that are available to businesses in the communities and many times they discuss local and state incentives that are available to companies that are planning or considering growth in our community.

- 140 Business Visits Including 40 Major Employers
- City Council/County Commission Business Visitation
- Corporate Headquarters Visits
- Partner with Entrepreneurial Minority and Women Business Development Program with Small Businesses Support
- Society of Manufacturing Engineers Leadership
- Lean Six Sigma Program Support

She is also responsible for workforce development in Topeka. A lot of folks ask well why do we need workforce development there are of lots of people who are looking for jobs in the market. Well businesses today do not have time to train people as they come through the door, they are really looking for those individuals who have those skill set in hand and can really just hit the ground and run because that is what business is doing today.

- WorkKeys Testing WorkREADY! Certificate. An ACT testing component. They test high school seniors in math, reading and locating information. When completing those three tests, they are available to receive a WorkREADY! Certificate and this certificate can be asked for my employers. This is another credential that candidate can have in their toolbox.
- High School Presentations Technical Careers
- Human Resource Directors Meetings
- School Counselor Business/Industry Tours
- Employer Surveys to Identify Workforce Needs/Issues
- Partner with Washburn Tech on Identified Skill Gaps

Dawn Wright, Vice-President of Economic Development for GO Topeka gave a presentation on new business attraction of new primary jobs and investments. In January 2011, working with a couple of the premier site consultants, GO Topeka did a targeted industry study of our community so they would have a deep understanding of the types of companies that we should be attracting that would be a good fit for Topeka and Shawnee County.

Target Industry Sectors:

- Food Manufacturing
- Advanced Manufacturing
- Logistics and Warehousing
- Biosciences-Animal/Human/Plant Sciences
- Back Office/Financial Services
- Clean Energy

So all of GO Topeka's marketing materials and marketing efforts are towards attracting companies in these target sectors. New business attraction is all about building the brand of Topeka and Shawnee County externally. So the priority for them is to get out in front of site selection consultants, those consultants that are telling the companies where they need to take their business to locate it or expand to and those companies within the target sectors that they have laid out. If they remember when Dr. Morfessis came in and talked to them this year, she said one of the things that GO Topeka really needed to be careful of was making sure they didn't retract on their marketing budget so there is a slight increase in the new business attraction in the marketing budget and that will go specifically and directly towards national and international marketing to companies in our target sector areas. They have already put together their 2013 advertising which will be in publications such as Site Selection Consultant, Business Facilities and several target sector, industry specific magazines, but they have also moved away from print and they now have a much larger presence in electronic media and online. They are seeing more international projects than they have seen in the past. In their portfolio now, they have a large selection of international projects - France, Italy, and China to mention a few. They really feel like next year they need to take a step back and look at how we can penetrate those markets even deeper because they are seeing more companies, foreign companies that want to invest in the United States. They will be doing that, working in conjunction with Kansas Global Trade Services and the Kansas Department of Commerce to focus on some foreign companies. The entire new business attraction program will be marketing through trade associations representing the target industry sectors and again through electronic

marketing. They have found it is extremely helpful, just as the existing business program builds those face-to-face relationships with our internal and existing businesses in our community; GO Topeka has to get Topeka and Shawnee County out in front of the companies who may be considering growth expansion in to our community. So they are out there building those relationships with these site consultants and companies. The do consultant office presentations where they go in, they have a very concise, professional, build the brand of Topeka that they put in front of them so they can see what we have to offer. They also participate with the Kansas Department of Commerce and the Kansas City Area Development Council when those host site consultant visits. They participate in site consultant events so that we can get in front of them. One of their measures that they try to do is make sure they get in front of a minimum of 225 site consultants every year so that they are presenting Topeka and Shawnee County to them face-to-face. That doesn't count the 6,000 that they are constantly in contact with that are in their proprietary database. The host in-community site visits for projects and prospects. They host an incommunity event, an extremely successful one; they have had over 30 site consultants in our community over the last 2 years. They host them here in Topeka to familiarize them, again face-to-face, so they can see what we have to offer their potential clients. They also do geo-targeted marketing. They look for companies that are in communities that may lack the assets that Topeka has to offer and they target those companies. They work on prospect public relations and sales to facility future visits and site location in to our community. They work on prospect development with the Kansas City Area Development Council, KC Smartport, Kansas Bio and Kansas Research Nexus. Additionally, they have their website which they are extremely proud of, a lot of information on there that site consultants and companies can go to and learn about Topeka and really drill down to what we have to offer. They do project impact analysis and that is included in the budget. Every project that they would offer incentives to, they look at and make sure they are a good economic impact for our community. They work through a tracking system for all of their projects, called EcoDevo Tracker where they keep all of their proprietary information on their projects and work through every bit of data and material that they have presented to a company is located within this database. They also have their own proprietary database, the GIS SwiftSite, that they have helped develop within their website, where a company or a site consultant can go straight to it and realize all of the different sites and buildings they have available in Shawnee County, which is a huge tool in the economic development world. They work closely with many partner organizations including Kansas Economic Development Association, the International Economic Development Council, Industrial Asset Management Council, Southern Economic Development Council, Society of Office and Industrial Realtors. And then within the budget as well, they have line items for information technology, meeting expense, postage and supplies to round out their total budget of \$506,670.

Cyndi Hermocillo Legg, Vice-President of Entrepreneurial and Minority Business Development for GO Topeka gave a presentation on the Entrepreneurial Minority Business Development program (EMBD). She would like to share with JEDO and the citizens the qualifications that continue to allow them to grow and lead what has become recognized as a national entrepreneurial model and small business development program. As a department of GO Topeka, they have a greater reach locally and the ability to leverage their resources. Our Minority Women Business Development Council, some who are in the audience, we appreciate their time and expertise and their purpose of advising and assisting GO Topeka to provide the most effective economic development programs for the underserved and small business owners of Topeka and Shawnee County. They right now have three that are in the financial profession, three that are small business owners themselves, as well as one entrepreneurial educator, two that are past councilmembers but they are in the legal profession and we tend to call upon their services a lot and they are great about giving it and also one that is current and one that is past that have 8(a) certification experience, that as they continue to build their entrepreneurs that are at that level, we do draw upon some of those experiences as well. Mary Ann Anderson is half time their Administrative Assistant in research and holds an undergraduate degree from KSU and has been with the EMBD program for over 6 ¹/₂ years and is essential to their program.

Her personal background and her ability to lead the EMBD program, the Entrepreneurial Development piece as well as the Topeka and Shawnee County First Opportunity fund. She holds an undergraduate degree as well in 2000 she earned her Master's Degree both from Kansas State University that continues to help lead more of the strategic and operation piece and also her past experience of running federal programs and being a steward of taxpayer's dollars at Kansas State University and Wichita State University. She is certified as an economic development and financial professional through the National Development Council (NDC) and complete all core elective course work through the International Economic Development Council and will sit for the exam in 2013. Are certified through Entrepreneurial Learning Initiative, Ewing Kauffman Labs, they are deemed a community partner and instructor. Certified through the Francis Institute as an affiliate partner, director and instructor for how to develop your childcare program. Certified through Kaufmann FastTrac Inc. as an affiliate partner, director and instructor and the only authorized affiliate allowed to instruct programs in Shawnee County. Certified with Operation JumpStart as an affiliate partner, director and instructor. Certified by the U.S. Treasury for the community development financial institution for a micro-loan program. Most of all, she has been a past small business owner. She did own a retail dealer store with \$3 million in retail sales and under her leadership, 70% profits increase and was able to sell her business for a profit. Going through that experience alone, as a womanowned, minority-owned operation in itself speaks to the very core of the mission that they supply here for Shawnee County entrepreneurs and has allowed her to be sensitive to the reach and opportunities for our local entrepreneurs that we continue to thrive here locally. Knowing that she is able to build the opportunities that would allow our journey to start or grow faster, better, stronger is what she has an opportunity to do for local entrepreneurs daily.

Their program under their leadership has been recognized as a model to follow and here are a few examples, just recently what they have been able to do for others external from Shawnee County. The City of San Antonio, who recently passed \$1 million from their City Council was asked to grow an entrepreneurial leadership program. They picked up the phone and called us. Same with the Houston Community College, who is building their innovation center. And Indianapolis, Indiana who is growing with women's small business development center. The Governor's office has asked them to sit on their panels as a speaker for conferences for the small business and minority ownership. The Kansas Department of Education, they are an organizational partner and have been spokesman for the best practices to follow panel speaker series. And they are always interested in seeing how we are able to share with the State on our best practices for youth entrepreneur ownership and robotics program. They have also been published in the national site selection publication various times for the robotics program and recently have been asked by the American Chamber of Commerce executives on behalf of EMBD to deliver a profile for their chamberpedia which is a best practice accumulation of information for all chambers in the world and they have asked us to deliver navigate to Topeka Shawnee County First Opportunity Fund and the robotics program.

These are just a few examples but what she would like to share here tonight, what they have built here locally is a very unique program to the nation. Their pipeline of dedicated services, incorporating four courses that offer very much the strategic and operational mindset and skills which have graduated 537 and to date 196 business have started or grown under their program, 42% are minority owned, 67% woman owned and 55% low income target market. Workshops and training seminars since 2009, 83 have been delivered where 3,253 professionals and entrepreneurs have been served. One-on-one technical services, 782 clients. Referring them to the packet, starting on pages 57 through 59, starting with D.21 – this line item is for the mentioned course offerings and the workshops/seminars. She would also like to recognize that all course graduates are available to receive scholarships listed under D.11, D.12, D.13 and D.17. They are mentor dollars, trade show dollars, scholarship to navigate partners, market dollars – all which are allowing them to build their

operating skill sets even further, not only during and after their growth with us. EMBD works to offer operational management, profitability, strategic positioning, market research consumer behavior, financial performance to position a business or entrepreneurship as well as getting that small business owner to audit their way of thinking and focus on their next steps. They work with the concept, the start up and the growth phase entrepreneur. GO Topeka EMBD and the Minority Women Business Development Council together in 2013 will continue to grow the opportunities for small business development while sustaining existing efforts of the entrepreneurial programs, the Topeka and Shawnee County First Opportunity Fund and the Industrial Robotics Program mentioned, over at Highland Park but offered to all Shawnee County students. That was part of their contract signing negotiations, so that is open to any Shawnee County student which right now they have serviced 55 students, where 71% are minority and their dollars have been \$138,000 with EMBD but \$366,000 to date is what has been spent on that program. As we know, there are three ways to grow an economy; that is through attraction, existing business retention and entrepreneurship. They have been and continue to be dedicated to building a strong ecosystem for entrepreneurship to flourish here locally. Our entrepreneurs and small business owners depend on it.

Councilwoman Hiller indicated that she has referred a lot of people to their program and she very much appreciates it. She asked if they could give a picture of what a typical travel through the program would look like for someone who wanted to become an entrepreneur and that could include where someone decided not to do it.

Ms. Hermocillo Legg responded that they recognize and they always like to think the best results are those that start a business but they also want to make sure they recognize those that don't go in to debt doing it or don't have their plan efficient enough to start one so that they go back to the drawing board. They also have a lot of boomers in the last two years, that are putting it in their back pocket so that that is going to be their retirement plan so they may not necessarily be starting their business now, but they are getting their education stronger. They get everything under the sun that walks in the door quite literally and in economic development they call it the "Johnson law" - it is just customized and you have to know what are they looking for, where they are at, what phase and again - concept, start up or growth phase? There are different ways in which you are able to help them. And also as they grow through either one of their courses, training and workshop series, or even one-on-one technical assistance. A lot of their professionals – accountants, lawyers, chiropractors – they don't like to go through the courses because they just feel like they know it all until after about four or five different meetings, then they feel a little comfort level to say I was never taught the operating skill set to start my business or to make sure that it is running efficiently. So they get to see not only those professionals, they get the unlikely entrepreneur. She considers herself an unlikely entrepreneur; she didn't have that necessarily in her game plan so they always like to think that they can start at the earliest age possible that is why they do a lot of outreach, right now they start at the high school level but they really look towards growing that here and it is just highly customized.

Councilman Wolgast indicated that he does have some questions on some figures, if those would need to be addressed to Mr. Kinsinger or Mr. Owens or possibly Ms. Feldmann on the workforce development line item in that is has decreased and the one significant decrease of the programs and wondered if she could talk about that change from last year to this year. 2012 was \$60,500 and 2013 is now \$34,600.

Ms. Feldmann responded that workforce development is primarily centered more around staff intensive time rather than the particular dollar investments and so it is real easy to look at that and feel like that budget has been reduced but a lot of their participation and a lot of their involvement with organizations like WashTech. A lot of her business retention program also wraps in to workforce development and so most of her budget and her time is primarily one-on-one, out there assisting businesses and that type of activity rather than actual dollars of investments.

Councilman Wolgast also asked on the anticipated expenditures on current commitments, because that is down 25% and he thinks Mr. Owens said there were some changes that were taking place. Could they just speak to that a little bit because Mars is coming in, but then he assumes some are going out.

Mr. Kinsinger indicated that is really based on what our contractual obligations are that JEDO has approved over the years. Maybe the best way to illustrate this is with a slide from their presentation on results GO Topeka has brought over the last 10 years.

Companies receiving local incentive funds	Companies assisted, no local incentives	Microloan/ TCFOF Recipients	Cumulative Totals
27	50	46	123
2722	1893	158	4773
3693	1396	28	5117
6415	3289	168	9,872
\$ 1,018,087,500.00	\$ 163,539,000.00	\$ 935,800.00	\$ 1,182,562,300.00
	incentive funds 27 2722 3693 6415	incentive funds incentives 27 50 2722 1893 3693 1396 6415 3289 \$ 1,018,087,500.00 \$ 163,539,000.00	incentive funds incentives Recipients 27 50 46 2722 1893 158 3693 1396 28 6415 3289 168 \$ 1,018,087,500.00 \$ 163,539,000.00 \$ 935,800.00

The best way to answer his question is that those contracts evolve over time, and so they have a payment schedule, they only get paid as they are performing and some have slightly different schedules as they saw the contract for Del Monte tonight, we are excited that it was approved and expect that they will start their work immediately but it may be up to a year before they are done and we do their first review and pay them. So what happens is that these are all placed in a schedule and they determine, and that figure that he asked about is actually based on what the contractual scheduled obligations are that is not an estimate and over years those change. Last year they had a lot of start up costs for Mars of utility infrastructure and improvements at the end to get that site working. Those are, as you see the building now getting close to completion, the vast majority of those are complete.

Commissioner Ensley questioned about the 10% that goes to minority business development. Over time does he believe that number is adequate funding, underfunded or where it should be and the private funds that are raised - are some of those dollars going in to that area too?

Mr. Kinsinger responded that they have not been able to find a community our size or larger that invests the quantity of funds that we have been in that program. Does he think that is the right or wrong amount, he really can't judge for them, that is their opinion. But he will say he has seen the need. When he first started 10-11 years ago, he thought that was a lot of money for that program but as they heard Ms.

Hermocillo Legg describe and the work that the advisory council has helped evolve there is an endless amount of need and he thinks this body as heard some discussion there are segments of our community who do need extra help, so yes he does think it is warranted and he does think it is making an impact. They have heard the number of jobs that have been created and to give an example, as they heard Dr. Morfessis speak at the last workshop, there are less and less jobs by major corporations and we are trying to help start those start ups, those potential headquarters of the future. Some of these small companies, you never know, may be 100 years from now what Security Benefit and Payless Shoes and Hill's Pet Nutrition is to our community today. And to answer his question about private dollars, yes they have raised private dollars from the business community, he believes it is \$175,000 that they have raised from private business to add to the sales tax dollars and those are being leveraged to help provide more dollars available to the minority and women owned business community.

Mr. Kinsinger also presented figures relating to the economic impact to Topeka/Shawnee County based on GO Topeka results from 2002-2012:

Total Direct Primary Jobs:	
New	4,773
Retained	5,117
Total Direct	9,872

- Total Direct and Indirect Jobs: 17,681
- Salaries to be paid to Direct and Indirect Workers: \$8.48 Billion over 10 years
- Taxable Sales: \$3.24 Billion over 10 years
- Total Salaries to be paid \$8.48 Billion
- Economic Development Sales Tax \$55 Million
- Simple Annualized Return on Investment (ROI) 154:1

Commissioner Buhler indicated that as part of Item 3, the 2013 contract is attached, Item 3(3) and Item 3(4) and she is going to ask County Counselor Rich Eckert, are there any changes from this year to the 2013 contract?

Mr. Eckert responded no, the only thing that they changed were the dates to make it consistent with the 2013 year.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that the difference between the two contracts is that the first contract is for a term of one year and the other is for a term of three years and that came about during the last JEDO meeting and discussion from Dr. Morfessis that said that was an option that she had seen other economic development organizations put forth. She would like to have discussion by the JEDO Board first on this matter before they open it up for public comment.

Commissioner Ensley inquired when the sales tax expires? Is it at the end of 2015?

Commissioner Buhler indicated she believed it expired at the end of 2016.

Commissioner Ensley questioned what the reason for going to a three year contract would be. For continuity? Could someone express why that should be considered.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that was part of the discussion and she cannot remember all the comments that Dr. Morfessis made but it would be continuity with those that are looking to bring their businesses to Shawnee County/City of Topeka. But this is just an option being put out there.

Councilwoman Hiller stated they were looking for stability, long-term, knowing that it is not going to change.

Commissioner Buhler stated that we have had at least one workshop and are looking to have another workshop coming up in February. She thinks there might be some merit to extending the contract for one year in an effort to better understand the function between JEDO and GO Topeka and then possibly entertain a three year next December but that is certainly up for discussion.

Councilman Wolgast stated that he sees the reasoning for it and is supportive but at the same time he thinks JEDO and our organizational City/County relationship with GO Topeka; we have changed a lot in the last couple of years in a sense how we operate. He thinks we are really coming together and functioning better, understanding one another better. So he can see possibly waiting a year and studying it during this year as we develop more and see what directions we want to go.

Councilwoman Hiller stated she was surprised to see the options but understands. She agrees with Councilman Wolgast. She thinks she is open for consideration but the annual review brings us all together, our membership changes every other year and it somehow draws the focus in on how exactly we are doing things, what we are doing and what are the results she thinks that an annual review mid-contract might not do. She thinks that kind of process has encouraged the discussion that we are having now, the retreat that we did last month. Even though there is an appeal, maybe we can think about this the next go around with economic development as we really look these next couple of years at how that should be structured in the future. She is ok with considering but she doesn't feel compelled to change it this year.

Mayor Bunten indicated he doesn't understand why we are considering changing something that works so well. We have an excellent staff that has developed relationships across this nation and clearly the success of the GO Topeka program can't be denied. Everybody can see, Bimbo Bakery Mars, Target, Home Depot, but in addition to that there are many companies that you haven't heard a lot about that have been here a long time that have been retained here because of this group of people that have been working for us for so many years now. The relationships that they have forged with people who are hired by companies to go out and look for places to expand is an excellent one. He isn't sure how many of those folks came back for the races this year but there were more than there were the year before. He doesn't see why we want to fix something that isn't broken, it is going very well. He has heard of another group that wants to establish a company but it isn't a company now. Will there be more people that come and want to have a contract to do the work that we are doing now through the Chamber staff? Perhaps, he doesn't know. But these people who are working for us would like to know if they have a job for just beyond a year and he thinks that is something we should take in to consideration. *Mayor Bunten made a motion to approve a three year contract with GO Topeka. Commissioner Thomas seconded.*

Commissioner Thomas indicated she had a question for GO Topeka. In lengths of time, whether it is months or years, capturing the business from Mars, from the first conversation to the ink drying on the contract – how long was that and maybe the last two, whether it is Home Depot or Bimbo Bakery, she would like to know how many months or years were invested.

Ms. Wright indicated that Mars first opened their project in 2008; that is the first time we were aware that they were considering our community. As with many of our projects, they can start really hot, we are going to build in four months, we're ready to come and then they pull back and go in to what we call they go black but they are still very active. Every project is different. Some of them we can propose and have the deal done in six months. Some of them, she has active projects in our portfolio that are from 2009 and they are still active.

Mr. Kinsinger would like to add, he thinks a couple members of the JEDO body have actually attended some of our prospects offices and have realized that some of these we have been working with for a couple of years and have understood that either there happens to be a slower demand for their product, which may be a military product, or it may be the fiscal cliff looming that they tend to wait for. But our key is that we need to be able to pounce when the time is right and out of those, he thinks he has mentioned to some of them, we keep trying to emphasize, we have 34 active projects that we are working on now; 24 of those are new attraction projects, 10 of those are existing. None of those are ones that he would expect that they would be done and completed within less than a year. He would say that sometimes it is the relationship process of establishing that trust and confidence, that when they do have a project, that we work on that quite extensively with our existing companies. But that is part of what we do with our site consultants, is that they have trust and confidence and be able to follow up and we can be able to perform in the timeframe they need. They do want sustainability and they do want continuance.

Councilwoman Hiller stated that this is a new concept for all of us to consider. She thinks when the sales tax was passed; she doesn't think anybody really expected us to change vendors or change economic development contractors over the course of that sales tax period. She thinks everybody understood that it takes many years, whether it is to get a major business or whether it is to work with someone who's considering to become an entrepreneur and wants to put their foot in the water and go to class and get consultation. Obviously you need to revisit that contract at some point unless you just do a ten or fifteen year contract. Does the one or three year really make a difference? Does he see it changing the relationship?

Mr. Kinsinger stated it does because it allows them to plan. At this point they only know what resources they will have available on an annual basis and as they are getting in to especially land development and infrastructure, your budget, all of them as elected officials realize how fewer and fewer dollars you have available for infrastructure. They have been taking on more of that responsibility. They have been helping extend water, sewer, and gas mains. They have been the community's developer, especially for major manufacturing sites and those things do not occur overnight and they don't occur with small dollars. They have also tried to work hard to leverage their dollars, with both some State and Federal dollars and have had some success along the way. He doesn't want to give the indication that they want a three year approval and they will never talk to JEDO again. What he does want to emphasize is that they need that partnership and communication to continue because there will be an ongoing thing. As you recall they present to you an annual budget. They have to come back to JEDO to approve any deviation from that. Every time they have had an incentive project, or agreement they have brought that to JEDO for approval. They may have gotten approval to take certain steps but they still have the responsibility to come back to JEDO for authorization at certain levels.

Councilwoman Hiller questioned that we would still expect to have an annual budget process.

Mr. Kinsinger indicated he would think so, yes but they have only submitted an annual budget. And again within that, if they submit any project for approval or any contract; their contract he believes, unless the County Counselor tells him otherwise, authorizes that they can only make financial obligations for one year at a time.

Jeff Wietharn, Legal Counsel for GO Topeka indicated that the three year contract still requires that GO Topeka still come to JEDO every year so there is definitely still an approval process here. Among other things it allows them to tell their prospects, that they are not a one and done group, we are here for three years. So there is still plenty of oversight by JEDO it just changes it to a three year contract, a lot of the processes are basically still there they have just been tweaked to allow for the contract to rollover.

Councilwoman Hiller questioned that is one of the pieces that is still in the one and the three year is that there is a termination clause in there as well.

Mr. Weitharn indicated yes, there is a 120 day notice period.

Councilman Wolgast questioned if there have been any substantive changes to the contract in the last five years, seven years, that they are aware of.

Mr. Weitharn indicated no, they have typically rolled over the dates. He believes there was a reporting issue at one point, they needed a little bit more time to get financial reports to JEDO and it had a shorter deadline, so maybe two or three years ago they went from 30 days to 45 days perhaps, don't quote him on that. But substantively he doesn't remember any significant changes.

Councilman Manspeaker stated that everyone agrees that GO Topeka is doing a great job. He thinks he has heard that from just about everybody up here. So they have done a great job with the year to year contract for the past so many years but now we need a three year contract. Can somebody explain to him why we need a three year contract? Maybe the person who made the motion.

Mayor Bunten indicated that he would be happy to make the motion for four years.

Councilman Manspeaker questioned what is the difference between a one year contract and a three year contract? What is the rationale behind that?

Mayor Bunten stated that we have an excellent staff. That is his impression after seeing them operate over the past eight years and breaking ground with some excellent companies, and keeping a lot more through the incentive programs that we have. This staff has forged relationships with people who make recommendations to companies across this country where it might be a good place for them to expand. He hasn't heard a single critic about the work that has been done by this group of people. So if it is doing well, why do we want to change it? What established company that we can look at to see whether or not they have been successful in what they do, does this work so that they can have confidence that because they were maybe lower in the cost, that we should change from what we have to someone else?

Councilman Manspeaker replied that the two of them must talk to different people because he has heard lots of critics in the community about the way things have been done. He is opposed to this three year contract. One, because we don't use an open bidding process which we can all go round and round about how rational or how effective that is but at the end of the day if the City has to hire somebody to fix a road they put that out to bid and give that to the lowest bidder and award that contract that seems like a pretty rational way to do business, period, end of story. It doesn't matter what services you are seeking. At the end of the day, how many folks work for GO Topeka?

Mr. Kinsinger indicated there are nine.

Councilman Manspeaker stated so these nine folks that Mayor Bunten says he is worried about their year to year life as to whether or not they are going to have jobs because the money is always up in the air come December. He is not worried about their nine jobs; he is more worried about the thousands of jobs that we have in our community that they help maintain, they help to protect but he thinks that should be this body's focus and not the nine people that we employ over at the Chamber of Commerce. We have to be very clear about what our goal and what our aim is here as a body and he thinks JEDO's main objective and main goal is to provide economic development. Now how we provide that or who we provide that through is up to this body. But JEDO is responsible for economic development, not our contractor. They provide us a service but we are at the end of the day the ones that are responsible. This

may also ruffle some feathers, but he also has a serious problem with this body passing a three year contract with three of its voting members being in outgoing offices so next time this would be able to come up to folks it will be a completely new group of people. Three of them are not going to be here next year. There might be a new group of folks next year that might want to do something different but they are going to be left with what was decided here today. Councilman Archer is not here to make that decision; he is going to be on the new County Commission, who knows how he feels about this. He doesn't see why we can't continue to do a year to year contract. It does no disservice to GO Topeka, we have never hamstrung them in the past, they have been successful, and they have gotten things accomplished. Just because there are critics in the community, there is no reason for us to protect them with a three year contract. What we put at risk with a three year contract is that when this sales tax comes back up for a vote, the voters won't trust us because we gave the money away and signed it up in a little box that we can never deal with or tinker with ever again because we have signed a three year contract. If the voters don't trust us this tax money will go away and we won't have economic development in our community and he thinks this is a very dangerous game we are playing here this evening.

Mayor Bunten responded if they start worrying about that we make a decision that can't be changed, and of course it could be changed if the provisions in the contract aren't being made, if we are going to consider that we shouldn't take any action because we may not be here three years from now, we won't be doing anything, we won't make any decisions because people might feel differently about it later. We are in the position right now to make a decision whether it should be one year or three years. He has made his point of view; Councilman Manspeaker has made his point of view. He would be pleased to vote on it as soon as possible because all of us know what they have done, how well they have performed and we don't have any viable alternative. There is no company. Councilman Manspeaker talked about making roads, yes we bid those but there are scores of companies that make roads. But what these folks do in economic development, who does it? What company? Does he know of any companies that do it?

Councilman Manspeaker replied that there are 300+ major metropolitan areas in the United States. All of them do economic development differently. There are lots of different ways to do this. There are lots of professionals that do this. There are a million different opportunities out there. To say that this is the only possible way that we could get this done is very narrow sighted.

Mayor Bunten stated he didn't say it was the only possible way. But does Councilman Manspeaker know of one company, a company not a city or a county, that could take the place of the people, the nine people that are working for us, in a private organization, privately funded. Does he know one company?

Councilman Manspeaker responded that if we put this out to bid then we might find out that there are other companies out there but we have never put it out to bid so we don't know who has wanted to do this work.

Commissioner Buhler stated that at this time they will take a vote but first they will take public comment at this time on this item.

Public Comment: Joseph Ledbetter indicated he needed instruction from the Chair, whether or not this comment is on the three year contract, which is what he would just prefer to just comment on and then he would prefer to comment on all the other items that were raised.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that Item No. 3 is the business plan and budget and the 2013 contract, either the one or three years.

Mr. Ledbetter indicated that he will then talk about all the points. He stands opposed to a three year contract with GO Topeka. He stands opposed to the budget as proposed. He stands opposed to the

contract as it stands. He would declare that they need to put this out for bid and they need to allow other people to have competition in Topeka, Kansas and Shawnee County. He takes exception with one of the comments that was made up here by one of the council members that the people thought that this was all going to go to GO Topeka as long as this tax was in existence. That is not true. He doesn't know anybody, maybe outside of GO Topeka that thought that was going to be the case. People thought there would be economic development. It did not say anywhere in that document GO Topeka. It said it is for economic development but the City could have had it, the County could have taken their share, it could have been done any number of ways. There is nothing in that document that we voted on either in 2000 or 2004 that says that money was earmarked for GO Topeka the organization for "x" number of years, nothing. Have they considered the cash basis law when they are considering these multi-year contracts? That language better be in there. He cannot believe some of what he is hearing tonight but that is fine, we all have free speech and that includes the citizens. First off, this is only the 2nd action meeting of JEDO this entire year. That is ridiculous. The contract says that GO Topeka is to submit to JEDO quarterly financial reports and he has had trouble finding those documents. They are not online. Many times he has asked through KORA requests for those documents and only once was he provided actual quarterly financial reports. What you see up here time and again, and it seems like he is the only one that spots it, he doesn't know why, but you have these marketing plans thrown out, you have a quarter plan thrown out, but that is not what the contract says. It talks about that but it also talks about the financials. Transparency of this money, are there good people and organizations that have gotten behind raising private funds? He is sure there are but if you are going to refer to those documents, put them in to the meetings so everybody can look at it, see who the donors are, what was actually donated in that \$4 million over the next five years, let's see who put the money up, what they actually put up or is it just soft cost, is it just advertising, what is it or is it actual hard dollars? If you are going to refer to a document, bring it to the meeting and let the public examine it, put it in to the record. His #1 problem with the way this thing has been structured for several years, and he has been very adamant and public about it for the last two, is the lack of competition and the lack of transparency. And when you cut off competition, you cut off good ideas, other people in the community that may have great ideas and may be extremely intelligent and have a lot of good ideas for what could create jobs in this town, but they are cut off, they are not invited to the table. It could be people from outside the state that have good ideas, but they are not invited unless they come through GO Topeka. Why has there not been competition? Why all of a sudden the concern about competition now? It has been operating this way for the last twelve years, they have had an annual contract, nobody else has been allowed to bid on it so what are they afraid of competition for, why do they need three years? It doesn't look like it is going to change because year after year he seems about the same amount of votes for the contract. He sees a total lack of questions asking where the money is going, asking how many staff they have, asking for the specific salaries of officers, travel expenses, any number of questions that he has and he would like to have answered on the record. Does that mean something is going on wrong? No, but it just means that he has a question. If you are going to get in his pocket, as a taxpayer, he wants to know where the money went. We have had a very successful year this year. We have raised property taxes 8.5% at the City; we have lost a thousand net jobs with Jostens and Hallmark, but we did take a tour to Fort Collins. We had a rezoning fiasco earlier this spring that was totally uncalled for and unnecessary. One of the farmers is right here in the audience tonight.

Commissioner Buhler indicated she would like to remind Mr. Ledbetter that his public comments should be on the actionable items that are listed.

Mr. Ledbetter responded that this about their whole plan and what they have done this year.

Commissioner Buhler replied that his comments are going off on another course, so his comments need to stick to the actionable items.

Mr. Ledbetter questioned what had he just said that was not on the actionable items, because he would like to comply. We had a whole hour of PowerPoint's on this action item and he is responding to the PowerPoint's that what was said on the record.

Commissioner Buhler indicated she appreciated that but she would encourage him to stick to the item.

Mr. Ledbetter stated that over the last ten years we have lost 8,000 jobs according to the U.S. Census, net. Poverty is up 50% in this community over the last ten years. He does not look at that as success in economic development at all. Could it have been different? We don't know because nobody else was allowed to talk. For many years we couldn't even speak at these meetings. He would like to know if this organization is as good as they claim they are; why are they not getting appraisals for land that is being bought? Why do we still have 75 acres of 49th Street that is undeveloped that they bought in 2006 without an appraisal? Tonight they shifted, the auditor said that they had to take money out of the 49th Street project because - well he thinks he said, he doesn't want to paraphrase - that project probably wasn't going to be done right away. Last year, they had over \$1 million earmarked. He questioned it last year. So why was it going to be developed last year but it is not going to be developed this year? These are questions that a body ought to be asking. Why aren't you developing that 49th Street parcel that's got the closest utilities? It doesn't make sense. Utility extensions cost millions of dollars and GO Topeka tonight has claimed they are the land developer; they are the industrial park developer. Ok so why aren't they developing what is closest in to the City and they have had it vacant since 2006? These are good questions that should be asked by the JEDO members. Because what it appears to him is that we are buying a lot of land that we don't need for some future project that may or may not exist and we are spending a lot of taxpayer money and we are justifying our jobs saying "well we are an industrial park developer". But in the meantime, under that model we have lost 8,000 net private sector jobs. What he is saying on the record is that there has got to be a better way to do this besides just going out and buying a lot of land and extending utilities. There have got to be better ways to operate and the public needs to be allowed to have input, other people need to be allowed to bid on these projects and this economic development money and see if there are better ideas than building a windmill in the glide path of Forbes Field, which was proposed earlier this year with this organization. And he is going to talk about a complaint he has heard from some USD 501 Board members. He has a couple of board members that have told him that they are complaining about GO Topeka's advice to them to buy the state hospital grounds.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that is not for this item. That is a comment but it is not specific to this item. She just wants to make sure in the interest of everyone's time that he makes sure that he keeps his comments to the actionable items. USD 501 is not here to speak for themselves. He does not speak for USD 501.

Councilman Manspeaker raised a point of order and indicated that the gentlemen who made the motion (Mayor Bunten) said that there were no complaints so therefore he thinks it is very valid for Mr. Ledbetter to say that he has heard complaints because he is answering the gentlemen who made the motion.

Mr. Ledbetter stated that Mayor Bunten opened the door so he is just simply commenting on the other side. If they are going to weigh this item and say that this organization hasn't had any flaws or any problems in the last ten years then he is going to challenge that.

Commissioner Buhler asked if Mr. Ledbetter represents Topeka Public Schools.

Mr. Ledbetter indicated no, he does not but he has talked to USD 501 Board members about that project.

Mayor Bunten stated then let's hear who they were.

Mr. Ledbetter indicated he would move on. They had a consultant in here July 25th and she said she was an auditor and he asked her questions. He asked if she had seen the transfer of \$1 million a year to the Chamber, those documents. She said she had. He asked if she agreed with that and she wouldn't comment. He was looking at the audit tonight and there used to be footnotes in the older audits that said how much money was being transferred to related organizations, i.e. the Chamber. And for several years, it was about \$1 million a year. He would like to know where that money is in this budget. Are they still getting \$1 million a year transferred from GO Topeka public funds to the Chamber of Commerce? And he is referring to all the audits that have been placed in the records in the past that they have looked at and voted on and he is referring to IRS documents, of the 990's, that are available to this body for them to look at that talk about those very transfers. Where has that money been put in this budget, is it continued being transferred? That is a question and that is a complaint if it is. It shouldn't be. It is a separate organization. Counsel correctly said that the contract hasn't been reviewed in about seven years. It is reviewed in that the dates are changed but it is not changed. He has asked, on the record, for review of that contract. He has asked that this body have a discussion about changes that are needed in the contract after using about the same contract for about the last ten years. Times have changed. We need more accountability, we need more transparency. If the integrity is there and he is not questioning it, then there should be no problem making sure that the contract reflects the public has a right to this information. The public can simply ask for it from GO Topeka and get it, the quarterly financials, the salaries, conflict of interest policies, making sure that people that are on boards or officers are not profiting from this contract, a public contract, by-laws that would protect the public from electioneering, where the Chamber is possibly recruiting and pushing candidates, potentially with public money. Those are concerns he has under this contract.

Mayor Bunten raised a point of order. He stated that Mr. Ledbetter is moving in to things that are of no interest to them here.

Mr. Ledbetter questioned that his comments are of no interest? Free speech?

Mayor Bunten stated that Mr. Ledbetter is starting to say things that he doesn't know anything about. Whether the Chamber of Commerce is involved in the voting for City Council members or others. Where does he get that information?

Mr. Ledbetter responded he is glad Mayor Bunten asked. First off, three council members, in 2009, said they were specifically recruited by Heartland Visioning which is headquartered in GO Topeka and the Chamber of Commerce. If Mayor Bunten would have listened, he said he would like protections in the contract that would keep that potentially from happening. If he said it is happening then he misstated. He wants the contract to say they are not allowed to put any of that money in to the Chamber of Commerce which does involve itself in elections, correct?

Mayor Bunten replied that he has no idea what Mr. Ledbetter is talking about.

Mr. Ledbetter stated that they have involved themselves in the ½ cent sales tax and they have involved themselves in other elections. He wants to make sure that public money is not going in to those processes. And it is just a simple process of putting protections in the contract to make sure it doesn't happen.

Mayor Bunten asked what public funds would be going in to the election of candidates, what ones?

Mr. Ledbetter stated we are talking about \$5 million of public money here tonight in this contract.

Mayor Bunten asked so Mr. Ledbetter is saying that some of that money is used to elect certain candidates?

Mr. Ledbetter indicated that is not what he said.

Mayor Bunten replied that it sounds to him like that is what Mr. Ledbetter is saying.

Mr. Ledbetter stated that is not what he said. He said he would like protections in the contract to make sure that an organization that is headquartered with another organization that is involving itself in that, and has by its own documents, which have been of record, where it says that they have transferred as much as \$1 million a year from GO Topeka public funds, by their own audit statements, to the Chamber of Commerce, he is simply asking that the contract would put protections in there to keep anything like that from potentially happening.

Mayor Bunten stated that Mr. Ledbetter sees subterfuge in everything. He has been listening to Mr. Ledbetter for eight years.

Mr. Ledbetter questioned if Mayor Bunten was engaging in a personal attack on him.

Commissioner Buhler asked for Mr. Ledbetter to just continue with his public comments and to stick to the actionable item.

Mr. Ledbetter stated that for an hour he had to listen to GO Topeka talk about all the great things they have done. Maybe, maybe not. Stand for scrutiny. Stand for questions. Because what he is seeing is a lot of lost jobs in this community and he is not seeing those jobs coming back in to this community in the same number that they are being lost. And they, by their own admissions, say they are in charge of economic development in this community. And there has been no competition allowed. There has never been an RFP taken for this money and he has a concern with that. He definitely has a concern if they were to agree to this for three more years based on these set of facts. Now he is needing some water so he is going to have to quit talking.

Commissioner Buhler indicated she is sure there are others in the public that would like to speak so in the interest of time.

Mr. Ledbetter stated he thinks it is past time that the contract be reviewed and that the public money clearly be separated from any other organization. He thinks that bylaws need to be put in place, he thinks that the public has a right to see all the by-laws and all the minutes of GO Topeka so that we can see actively where this money is going and he thinks we have a right to the financial reports that are asked for in the contract. And he thinks that nobody should have to pull teeth to get them, he thinks it should just be forthcoming and given very easily and quickly. He is absolutely opposed to extending this for three years. They do have new board members coming on, they may or may not agree with that. They have a right for their constituents and for the election that they just went through to present that next year for the public with a lot of ample warning so that the public can discuss it freely. As far as the one year contract, he is not impressed with what he has been seeing, especially the rezoning fiasco that went on earlier this spring in his township, it was ridiculous and there was no need for it. He has one further comment with their maps, he keeps looking at their maps and he knows they put some of them in to the record with their PowerPoint's. There are about 500 acres that they have had under option on the other side of 75 Highway. He would like to know what they intend to do, if they are going to close on that. There are a lot of wetlands in there; he has their own reports that he got through KORA's that show there are about 100 acres of wetlands. He doesn't think it is very good for an industrial park. He would like to know

what they are going to do with that. They keep showing it in their maps of Kwanza, sorry, Kanza Fire Park and he would like to know specifically if they are going to exercise those options and when.

Matthew W. Gassen, President of Winston/Meriwether, LLC stated he was not sure how he was going to follow all of that but he would try to just stick to some facts here. He thinks all of them should have received his notice on his intent to bid specifically on the EMBD funds. Also another fact, he did not receive notice of this meeting formally until this week, should have been the 11th, even though he requested notice of that a month prior and received notice by the City Attorney that notice would be sent to him by the Chairwoman of the Board, so he would like the record to reflect that he did not receive notice of the meeting as requested by KOMA.

Commissioner Buhler stated that she is going to check with the County Counselor on this. JEDO requires public notice to JEDO members a week prior to the meeting and so that agenda is released to the public at that time.

Mr. Gassen indicated that he requested notice of the meeting in November and received a notice after asking the County again.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that notice was given at the workshop.

Mr. Gassen responded that he requested notice and by law he is entitled to receive direct notice of the meeting, not through a public channel.

Commissioner Buhler asked who Mr. Gassen submitted that to.

Mr. Gassen indicated that it was submitted to the Council and to the Commission. And he received a reply email back from Mary Feighny at the City indicating that responsibility of notice would fall upon the Chairperson of the Board and that he would be receiving notice of that. And he can provide the emails for her.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that would be helpful.

Mr. Gassen stated that he thinks it is interesting that we are talking about extending this contract for a length of time when even the idea of putting this out for bid, it seems to be problematic for members of the Board. What he thinks a lot of people have trouble with is that the idea of good governance and best practices demand that these kinds of expenditures of taxpayer funds are competitively bid for. And in fact in 2004 this very issue was litigated and in that case the Judge noted that the JEDO, as a body, is controlled by an Interlocal Agreement and he notes in his opinion that State statute:

"...[a]ppears to carry over governmental obligations of the City into the interlocal agreement such that an avoidance of the public bidding requirement cannot so easily be had... [t]he result being that the progeny of the respective public bodies – here JEDO – carries with it the public interest mandate requirements possessed by either parent public agency, the theory being that one cannot do indirectly what it could not do directly."

Mr. Gassen stated based on that, both the City and the County have competitive bidding requirements. Therefore, following that logic, those competitive bidding requirements are still applicable today because they are attached to the Interlocal Agreement and follow through to the JEDO requiring the JEDO to follow those same procedures. So with that in mind he thinks it would be his company's contention that the JEDO is legally obligated to accept competitive bids. And from a public policy perspective it only makes sense that they would do this; that they would publish notice of the opportunity to bid on these

funds and then to follow through with it with an open and competitive bidding process. Furthermore, State statute defines what a professional service is, so although there may be exceptions carved out with the City and the County procurement requirements, the definition of a professional service is defined by State statute and it lists the qualifications of establishing a professional corporation and those corporations are those entities that typically require licensure by the State to conduct business, those would be attorneys, architects and engineers, where the public has an interest in ensuring that the services being provided are done through licensed professionals. So that would be his take on the issue here on both the legality of operating in a closed way and then also again he would like to highlight the fact that best practices of governance are well excepted across the country and internationally as well that when you are spending taxpayer funds that you would do so in a way that protects the taxpayers' interest by doing so in an open and competitive way. And with that, he also distributed notice to both the City Council and the County Commission, which would encompass the JEDO membership of his company's intention to bid again on the Minority and Business Development funds if the JEDO Board decides to open that up for bidding.

Commissioner Buhler stated that she did receive his email yesterday at 4:32 p.m. of his intent to bid but she does not have an email of him requesting notice of this body. She is going to direct Rich Eckert, Shawnee County Counselor, to answer his question on whether legally is JEDO required to bid this process.

Rich Eckert stated that there has been much debate about what Judge Theis wrote so he simply brought the Judge's *Memorandum Opinion, Entry of Judgment, and Order* with him and he is going to read a paragraph. The Plaintiff in this case (Shawnee County Case No. 02-C-1649) is the International Black Student Alliance, Inc. and the Defendant is JEDO. Earlier in this opinion, the Judge dismissed the lawsuit against Shawnee County and the City of Topeka, so at this point in the case the Judge is only talking about JEDO.

"Here, Plaintiff can not identify any applicable state statute that would require such a contract for services to be bid by either the City of Topeka or Shawnee County. Plaintiff initially cited K.S.A. 19-260b which, when read with K.S.A. 260a, only creates a purchasing agent in Johnson and Sedgwick Counties and thereafter specifies competitive public bidding, but it only applies to the latter counties, the K.S.A. 19-260b section cited being merely the second section of a single act. Subsequently, in response to the Defendants' pleadings, Plaintiff has asserted that K.S.A. 19-214(a) applies, but this statute clearly only applies to the construction of any county courthouse, building or bridge and, if there remains doubt, its section (b) exempts professional services in regard thereto from competitive bidding."

Mr. Eckert explained that those are the statutory guidelines for both Cities and Counties. The hitch in the lawsuit came when the Plaintiff cited a Topeka City Ordinance 2-387, and for the record he does not know if that ordinance still carries to this day or not, this was a 2004 opinion, and that section was on competitive bids. Judge Theis had the opinion that perhaps this could be used to apply to JEDO. Something that the Defendants did not agree with and we would have appealed it except for what happened next. In this opinion, Judge Theis then said, however, JEDO as its own separate governing entity is free to waive itself from the purchasing guidelines for professional services and that is what JEDO did. JEDO then passed a resolution (JEDO Res. 2004-1) exempting themselves from bidding out professional services. That was voted on and published in the paper and that is the state of the case today.

Commissioner Buhler asked so if there were to be any changes, going back to what Mr. Gassen is speaking about, that would need to be brought before this Board and voted upon, the changes that JEDO adopted exempting professional services from being bid. The members of JEDO have that option to bring that forward to change that.

Mr. Eckert indicated yes that is what would need to happen but to date it has not been done.

Mr. Gassen responded that his caveat to that is although the County Counselor cites the exemptions; he is citing the exemptions as they apply to State law and he did correctly cite the State statute that he also cited that carries both the competitive bidding requirements from the County and the City through. And what they come incorporated to is actually the Interlocal Agreement. So whether or not the JEDO passed an ordinance or not is almost irrelevant because the Interlocal Agreement is the controlling document that was created between the two bodies. Ordinance is subsequent to that, as Judge Theis points out, the JEDO can't exempt itself from that because the JEDO would be doing something that would circumvent the intent of both of the parent bodies when they came together to create the Interlocal Agreement.

Commissioner Buhler questioned if Mr. Gassen was an attorney.

Mr. Gassen replied that he is a graduate of St. Louis University School of Law in 2007. He does not practice law but he did clerk for the Attorney General of Missouri, clerked for the ACLU and is knowledgeable on the subject.

Councilman Wolgast indicated he also had a question for legal counsel pertaining to the contract. It is relating to this discussion but no specifically on whether JEDO has open bidding. And that is actually in Sections 6 and 12 it states, "GO Topeka shall submit to the JEDO and annual Business Plan and budget...[r]eflecting the expenditures to be made during the fiscal year... [S]uch funds to be used..." etc. and then Section 12 states, "Should the JEDO or GO Topeka request changes in the scope of services of GO Topeka to be performed hereunder, such changes shall be mutually agreed upon by both parties..." Is it Mr. Eckert's opinion that whether they have a one year contract or a three year contract, while that contract is in effect, the JEDO Board could have influence on changing direction of the operation of GO Topeka or the expenditures of the funds. How much freedom would this Board still have to have an influence on expenditures, direction, etc. for instance, during the interlude of the contract.

Mr. Eckert replied that this contract makes it clear that GO Topeka is actually the independent contractor and with that you have given them some level of control over this. If you actually exact a day-to-day control over it, they are not really an independent contractor, and then they lose that status. So they do have leeway underneath this contract, as any independent contractor would. Ultimately JEDO cuts the check and he believes it is cut monthly and he who wields the purse, wields a great deal of power. Also you also have a 120 day cancellation clause and that is at your sole discretion, you do not have to have cause.

Councilman Wolgast stated that it seems like where we are going is that if we should go to a three year contract, to what extent would JEDO have influence over the direction of where we would be going?

Mr. Eckert replied it would not be changed from how we have operated in the past. All of the quarterly reports are still due, the budget is still due, nothing substantive changes, it is just the term of the contract.

Councilman Wolgast stated that where it says they submit the annual business plan and budget and JEDO approves that so that is where he is thinking we could have change in that if we so felt, workforce deserves more funding, or something else, perhaps we would have an influence on that.

Mr. Eckert stated that at the very least, much like we are having a year-end meeting now to approve the contract, we would still have that year-ending meeting next year to approve the 2014 budget and the 2014 plan.

Councilman Manspeaker asked that we opted out of this practice that he would say most communities utilize for just about all of their purchases called competitive bidding, that was their choice as a body in 2004?

Mr. Eckert indicated that the JEDO did approve a resolution a resolution that exempted themselves from bidding out professional services.

Councilman Manspeaker asked if folks know why we open bid professional services or contracts in general? It is to protect ourselves against nepotism and cronyism and all of the other "isms" that suck our towns and cities dry. The fact that we have opted out of this thing is a joke, to protect our own best interests, does this protect the citizens, the taxpayers' best interests? If we have nothing to hide, then why couldn't we do it appropriately?

Mr. Gassen indicated he did have one other point. A former County Commissioner stated publicly in the newspaper that in his mind, and he may be paraphrasing here, that this contract was always open for bid it was just that no one ever did, no one has ever tried it. So reading that, in the mind of the public, that is what the public expects and people like himself who read that statement take that as an opportunity to participate in the process. And so to come here and try to participate in the process and then be thwarted by things he thinks are clearly in the disinterest of the public is disappointing. He would implore them to really think about why they all are working in the job that they are and have taken the positions that they have and that is to protect the taxpayer and to work in the public interest and that is their first and foremost duty.

Carol Marple stated she is a citizen and taxpayer and she has sat her tonight and listened and she has read online and she is more than willing to be corrected if she has written something down incorrectly, because there were 99 pages and she could not obviously print them all off. As a taxpayer she does not feel that her money is being well handled. They have \$5 million and they have \$1,962,896 as operating expenses and they have \$448,316 as salaries for eight or nine people. But probably her best example for the reason that she doesn't think this should be given a three year contract is that they approved the minutes tonight from their July meeting and it had to do with the 40 acres in SW Shawnee County which she is familiar with. They said that there were \$425,000 was the total purchase price for this 40 acres and that \$221,500 was for a house and 3 acres. Here question is, what happened to the house, what happened to the building? Her tax dollars bought that. If the people who owned the house and owned the building turned around and sold it, than that is not the total purchase price because they also had those additional funds. She paid for that house. To her if it was going to be auctioned off or if the building was going to be sold, that should come back to the County. That is additional money that we paid the people. And she has no problems with the people who received the money. Her problem is that it was stated that was the total purchase price but yet there were other assets that were sold and it went in somebody's pocket and she would like to know who.

Lazone Grays, President and CEO of IBSA, Inc. indicated that he is speaking against passing this contract. He is not going to speak to the issue of a one year or three year contract. He has been here before. Primarily the reason tonight to object is not just the legal reasons that he has stated in the past where he does not believe that JEDO has the statutory authority of exempting a contract of this nature from competitive bid in its entirety from the part of the professional services. If he is not mistaken it is a contract to provide administrative services and administrative services are not deemed a professional service. But as the Mayor has stated numerous times, if you have a problem with it, take it to Court. And if he had the money to do that, he would have been there. So he is going to move on from that issue now. What he would like to start with is, first, prefacing from the Interlocal Agreement. And he would like to state that everything he has always said and done has always been reflective of the Economic Development Plan for Topeka and Shawnee County Comprehensive Metropolitan Plan that was passed

unanimously by the City and the County in 2002 and as far as the Interlocal Agreement on page 1, "Whereas economic development is defined as the implementation of the economic development priorities established on a yearly basis by the Joint Economic Development Organization (JEDO), guided by the Topeka/Shawnee County Economic Development Plan..." so this is what he is referencing to whenever he speaks.

Commissioner Buhler questioned if Mr. Grays was referencing the contract or the Interlocal Agreement.

Mr. Grays indicated he was referencing the Interlocal Agreement.

Commissioner Buhler responded that the Interlocal Agreement is not an actionable item and they are not discussing that tonight.

Mr. Grays replied that he is just getting the basis of how he believes the decisions are supposed to be made because what it says is that it is economic development is defined as the implementation on a yearly basis by the plan. From his understanding the JEDO was supposed to set the priorities and not have the contractors come and tell them what they are going to do and then they just pass it on. It should just seem that they should have an on-hands approach saying what the priorities are. In the definition of the Interlocal Agreement which is the guiding principle of economic development, workforce training is a part of economic development. Which leads him to really the gist of really why he is here to speak. He has heard the excellent and outstanding job they say that the contractor, GO Topeka, does and he is not going to dispute that they have been accomplished in various areas where they have brought businesses to the City of Topeka. Many of the projects that they mention, he applauds them for doing so, but then again, if he is not mistaken, the sales tax is monies that are paid in by people that are from all over across the City. Most of these projects here are outside of the bus lines so many of the people who actually purchase stuff and pay sales tax, they don't have access to get out to these training programs at Forbes Field, these jobs out at Bimbo Bakeries or some of these other places. He thinks that it does other taxpayers a disservice to say that these are great because they are great for some people but they are not great for others. And these are other people who have actually paid sales taxes to bring these companies here.

And the reason that he is concerned, he is glad that there are accolades for the accomplishments for those activities for Women Minority Disadvantaged Businesses. He has spoken before as to how that 10% came about. It was not the contractor or the Chamber. It was him and his organization that worked to make sure that 10% was made available for the uses of, let him reflect back to the Interlocal Agreement, "endeavor to use an amount not less than 10% of the funds received to support economic development for socially and economically disadvantages individuals and/or business enterprises." By putting all of the onus that they are going to put all of the money into just business development, he thinks that it goes against exactly what the terms are supposed to be. It's "and/or" business enterprise. If we have gone through ten years so that could be approximately \$50 million, there is a schedule in his packet that says "Topeka Unemployment Rates by Race and Gender from 2000 to 2010." He has heard it is a great job, if it ain't broke, don't fix it, I don't think you want to fix something unless it is broken. From an article last year – Councilman suggested that the JEDO speak bids and he would like to quote what our honorable Mayor said, he "questioned why JEDO would stop contracting with GO Topeka, which he said has been doing a good job." And they have been doing a good job in specific areas; he is not going to dispute that. Commissioner Ensley, in the same article seemed like he was open to change, "Ensley said, 'As we speak, I don't think we need to do that..." meaning opening up for competitive bid. Again, Mayor Bunten said, "My impression is that GO Topeka has done an outstanding job." This is where he has a problem on this unemployment rate. Because if he was to just say that, and he did attend their informational meeting across town a couple of Saturdays ago and it was pretty well orchestrated that they were intermingled at tables

sitting amongst the contractor and their members and it was up close and personal and he knows that is a very hard act to follow coming here and speaking to them tonight. If it was open for questions and one of the council members stood up and he mentioned something about the 19.1% unemployment of minorities in Topeka/Shawnee County. And he had to get on him, because he misquoted him on that because when they asked him where did he get that information he said Lazone Grays. He was the only black person in the room and feeling very uncomfortable. He gets his information from the Kansas Department of Labor so he is not making up any information. And if he would have said that it was not for minorities, that was for 19.1% of black men in 2010, in the labor pool looking for work, not deadbeats who aren't looking for work, are unemployed. They make up 4% of the City population. In 2000, they made up 3.3% and their unemployment rate was 8.3%. Every year since then, their unemployment rate has risen, and meaning that over the last ten years, their unemployment rate has risen over 11%. He does not call that outstanding. He thinks that there is something broke.

He believes that by not allowing other people who may have some ideas and abilities to fix targeted problems. And that is why he was the one who fought hard to make sure these monies were available, not to just increase businesses but his focus was to decrease the unemployment rate of black men, black women and anybody who had unemployment rates that were such large and despairing. He can't understand why people want to not say anything about this. At what point when it went from 8.3% unemployment in 2000 to 17% unemployment in 2005 should the body have said "we are concerned about this." That this is a body of our Topeka citizens and that we do care about their economic viability. He wanted to try to make sure that a part of this sales tax could be used not for business but to be utilized in ways that could reduce some long standing problems. New money to do new things to address some long standing problems. So from 2005 to 2009 the unemployment of black men just kept rising until 2009 it was 17.4%. In 2010 it rose to 19.1%. And every year he has come here to speak to this. It is always just been an excellent job, great work, nobody can do anything better. If they are saying that this is the best that their contractors can do, then he disagrees. If they believe that there is no one out there that has any idea on the type of unique target type of programs to address these numbers where, these are not Lawrencians, or Wichitans. These are people from the City of Topeka, they have lived here, they are 2nd, 3rd generation Topekans. They buy stuff all the time, pay sales tax and to not see any of their monies targeted to help with this type. It's not that there are not any ideas or solutions out there. It's just that they have chosen to reject any other voices or ideas or opinions. He does not believe that this is outstanding work. He believes that it is imperative to change the course. He has sat back and watched as long as you keep telling them it's a great job, outstanding job; there is nothing, why would he want to change. But at the same time they are convincing themselves that this is a great and outstanding job and that is where group thinking starts to fit it. That no matter how wrong things are going, they will not accept that something is wrong.

How high does the unemployment rate for this population have to go before they say this is troubling, that something needs to be done? If he was looking at the other ethnicities, and yes we have a problem with unemployment for a lot of people, but when you look at it, no one fairs worse than the African American men and women in Topeka/Shawnee County. It is not like they are not here and they are not working. It is not like they are not buying stuff and paying in to the sales tax. And regardless of how many PowerPoint's and colorful things that you have, these numbers are only in black and white and they don't lie. \$500,000 is not a lot of money but it should be enough to have been able to be invested in strategically, utilized over a period of time to where they could have shown a reduction of unemployment in this. If he would have been given the opportunity, with his worst program, he probably could have reduced it 5%, 3% in five or seven years. But to have \$5 million over and over again or \$10 million and there has been no reduction, what is that?

Some of the articles that he has put in his packet come straight from the press as far as unemployment for young adults, poverty. He has laid out some programming that his company is doing and has done in other cities. Working on in other states that deal with youth employment and entrepreneurship, skills training. Transitional jobs is a model that cities use to reduce unemployment for people who have barriers to employment. There are people in this city who have barriers to employment. They have not worked for awhile, they may have convictions, felonies which denies them and inhibits them from getting work. They may have disabilities. Many of the meetings that he sits in on at the State level, dealing with employment and entrepreneurship of people with disabilities are not talked about here. The people making these decisions are not in the room. And the reason he shared the information about transitional jobs and the evidence is that there are evidence based practices that are not being used. If there were, he thinks that we would have seen some results by now. He is not going to really belabor the fact here. He thinks these statistics should speak for itself. When he walked in to that room the other day and when he sees that there is no full representation of people in the City, he thinks that this body is missing something when they think that everything is great. Chronically high unemployment over a long period of time creates other types of social problems. And he thinks that Dr. (Morfessis) was about to allude to that until she realized that Councilman Gray was not listening. He wanted her to continue on to that thought because she was about to talk about how they identified 27% chronic unemployment of Latinos somewhere down in the South, but she did not elaborate but she was going to say something that he thinks this body should have listened to. Concentrated high unemployment leads to other types of things such as high crime. This really is to a certain degree about delinquency prevention, crime reduction. He believes that if the right programs would have been launched a decade ago some of the young men who are having problems now in their 20's and 30's would have had their minds channeled on more positive things but there has not been any jobs program, any transitional jobs program. Just because people have barriers to employment doesn't mean that they are totally broke and that they are not buying stuff in this community. And he believes that it should be imperative for this body here to take note that they are citizens too.

The only way that we are going to get there is he believes that they have to open up their ideas and their mind and stop listening to just one side and thinking that is the only way and say let's listen to some. Because to think that everything is ok, and he put some definitions in his packet that he hopes that they look at. He is not delusional, he does not ascribe to group think he is more the very first one - altruistic, that he is caring about the welfare of others and acting to help them any time that he comes and speaks. He is not here asking for money, he is not here asking for anything except for their consideration to realize that there are people out here who are paying taxes and they are citizens of this community, they are raising children, they have to buy stuff to keep their households open, children fed, taking care of their spouses. So it is not like they are not paying in to this system, even though they don't have representation. And he doesn't think that you can consciously believe that a body that is not conscious or a part of this population, they can just by election understand what they think and feel. They know that there is not proper diversity. He is not going to go any further because he is not exactly sure their minds were not already made up before he got here. If the standard of success in economic development is unemployment and unemployment rates and that is what people hold their breath about is what is the unemployment rate going to be, then the unemployment rate for one population is 19.1%. If he had the opportunity of reducing the unemployment rate by 7% he would wipe out all unemployment rate of all other ethnicities and then African Americans would still be 9% unemployment, 3 times the amount of what the population is – he is not good at math but he is in the ballpark. The same with contracting, 94% of all the contracts by the City went to white males.

Last point, are there model programs out there to address that type of disparity - yes there are and he has shared that with them. Has it been approached and tried - no it has not. So there has been no

transitional jobs programs tried to reduce this unemployment and he would like to at least note from his packet on page 5, Goal IV, Strategy 3 in the economic development plan – support welfare-towork programs to involve unemployed, underemployed, and low-income persons in the economy. So this is a part of the economic development plan. The simple plan is a plan that is produced by the leading construction association in the United States. This is a program that they have used so that it is not about set asides, it's about big corporations the way that they use the process of bringing women and minority businesses in to the mainstream of public funding contracting. He has been trying to hit these things home for years, these ideas that should be tried but he has been ignored. He believes that they have nothing to lose. After ten years and \$50 million they have given carte blanche, non-competing access and these are the numbers that they have gotten. Nothing that has been said tonight is going to change with that.

At the meeting where Councilman Gray mentioned about the 19.1%, someone from the audience stood up and said "well companies need people who have skills for the jobs" and that is right, where are the skilled jobs training for us. And then pointed to the pilot program at Highland Park, well what does a program for young people who are not even old enough to vote have to do with reducing the unemployment of men and women who are old enough to work? We need programs for their parents because they are the ones in charge of paying rent, buying groceries, paying the bills. Instead of reducing money for workforce training he thinks that a better focus should have been put on workforce training. Now he sees that people are upset because he is speaking so long. He just wants to get this on the record; he would like them to and is requesting that they open up the bid for the 10%, that not the contractor or the Chamber fought for to have available. He is glad that they are making successes in being acclaimed around the nation because evidently he was right when he was pushing for it. That was actually the group that was trying to stop the monies from being made available, the 10%. That you gave the monies to them and the responsibilities to them, that is on them. But please do not insult his intelligence telling him this is outstanding work, that nobody can do any better. Because if this is the best work that can be done, call in the scrubs, he is sure that they can do a little bit better.

Councilwoman Hiller stated that she wants to thank Mr. Grays raising those issues now and in the past, all the way through. She would say, and she would like to think she speaks for all of them, that with the session that they did last month, this body is working to be on a learning curve.

Mr. Grays asked after ten years and \$50 million?

Councilwoman Hiller stated they are relooking at how to deliver economic development. People have asked questions, they have had one session but her understanding is there is a commitment to have others. She would encourage him to submit to GO Topeka, and she personally would be interested in seeing a copy, if he has some suggestions of some specific ways to improve programming to address particularly the target group he is talking about, she thinks it should be submitted. At one point, she thought he was actually submitting a proposal as well; she would encourage him to do that and if he did have one so that GO Topeka could consider it. They can work with whoever they want to deliver good programming that is going to achieve goals. She just wanted to lay that out there. Also if there is some formats that he has himself or that he has seen other places, that they could look at similar to the session that they did before, she is interested in that in terms of how economic development and programs are put together that are successful. She is personally interested and she thinks he could also submit those to GO Topeka. He also mentioned at the beginning of his remarks that the Interlocal Agreement said that they would do an annual contract, did she hear him correctly on that?

Mr. Grays stated no, on an annual basis the JEDO is the one that is supposed to set the priorities of what would be covered. Up until this point here, they have been just basically told what is going to happen and

they have rubberstamped it. As far as alluding to the agreement he would have to have Mr. Gassen speak on that. From his perspective it is not actually feasible for them to submit something to the contractor. There are things that are considered trade secrets which are part of things that agencies who do compete against each other do not share. Those types of models, inputs and ideas, those are not things that you share with your competitors. The best way to get these is that they open up bids, and let anyone who understands these types of models submit their wares.

Councilwoman Hiller responded that just as they ask GO Topeka how they are delivering their services and what's working and what's not and that has changed over the years. She can't speak for the whole body but she is looking for as they are progressing and winding down this sales tax and this economic development venture to continue looking at the success that they have done here and then look at other models and other ways to deliver better services or have better success with the people that have been through the programs as well as people that we have not been able to serve or populations that we haven't served as well.

Mr. Grays replied that he has conceded that there are successes. He is here focusing on the facts of the failure over ten years, egregious failures, 11% unemployment for one body is just too much to bear.

Councilwoman Hiller indicated she also had a question for legal counsel. When she looks at the one year contract and the three year contract, Section 6 is exactly the same in each of them. And it does not then provide for an annual review and a vote by JEDO in terms of the business plan and the budget. Is that in there someplace else? Because the language just says, "GO Topeka shall submit to the JEDO an annual Business Plan and budget in substantially the same form as Attachments A and B, reflecting the expenditures to be made... Such funds shall be used during the contract period unless otherwise agreed..." That doesn't provide for an annual review and ok by the JEDO Board of the plan.

Mr. Eckert responded that they as JEDO can order that anyway. He said let's cut out the talk about the three year contract because he doesn't think they can vote on that tonight. When you look at the JEDO Interlocal Agreement between the City of Topeka and Shawnee County there is a paragraph in there that states, "Any such contract shall be limited to one year and subject to an annual review by the JEDO." And so he doesn't think they can vote on a three year contract tonight unless they adjust the Interlocal Agreement.

Mr. Gassen indicated he wanted to respond to Councilwoman Hiller's questions and comments to Mr. Grays because Mr. Grays and Mr. Gassen submitted a bid together and the ideas that Councilwoman Hiller has asked for are contained within their bid. So if it is open, those ideas will be shared.

Mr. Eckert stated following up on that same paragraph, it indicates that there is only going to be one independent contractor and the independent contractor will endeavor 10% of the money on EMDB, so this idea of splitting these up in to two bids, that would also have to be changed inside the Interlocal Agreement.

Commissioner Buhler stated that the three year was an option, but for tonight just approving the one year, possibly having more discussion at future workshops, that we have had better discussion and better communication.

Commissioner Ensley offered a substitute motion to approve the one year contract. Listening to Mr. Eckert he thinks that is all they are really allowed to do. Councilwoman Hiller seconded. Motion carried 5 to 1, with Mayor Bunten opposed.

ITEM NO. 4: DISCUSSION of Carry-over Request, with possible action.

Mr. Kinsinger indicated this is just a request as the normally have that is required to carry over the balance of funds that they administer that they also have obligated on some of the contracts. This allows them, as it should in the budget, that they would be able to access those for the amount that was in the budget to pay off some of the contracts that JEDO has authorized. This is just a normal process that they have done every year and the contract was reviewed by JEDO's counsel.

Councilman Wolgast moved for approval for the carry-over request. Councilwoman Hiller seconded.

Public Comment: Joseph Ledbetter indicated he is not opposed to carrying over the money but he questions why they have so much and why or if they are going to buy the rest of that land, the 500 acres that keeps showing up in their maps, which they took original action on in 2009, if you check the minutes and you actually purchase and option on that. He continues to ask the question what's happened to that and isn't it being answered.

Motion carried unanimously.

ITEM NO. 5: SELECTION of 2013-2015 Auditor, with possible action – presented by Doug <u>Kinsinger</u>.

Brad Owen indicated that GO Topeka has an audit every year and they have used the firm of Mayer Hoffman McCann, P.C. for the last six years. GO Topeka has an audit committee that reviews the audit process and recommends approval to the Board. Mayer Hoffman has been under a three year contract that expired last year. The audit committee received bids and sent out bids to seven firms and received proposals for another three year contract. He believes in the packet they have a summary of the results of that proposal process. The audit committee and the Board of GO Topeka approved Mayer Hoffman as auditors, with one change. The previous partner has been Doug Glenn. The audit committee and the Board felt like it was good have a new set of eyes on things so they have requested that a different partner be involved. There was no issue with Doug's performance, he thinks they were very pleased with the work he did; it was just part of best practice to have a partner rotation. So they are requesting approval of Mayer Hoffman as auditors for the next three years.

Commissioner Ensley moved for approval. Commissioner Thomas seconded. Motion carried unanimously.

Public Comment: Joseph Ledbetter would just like to thank the Mayor for his kind comments.

Commissioner Buhler indicated she did have an announcement. They are going to have their second workshop for JEDO and the GO Topeka Board on February 23, 2013 from 8:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m. at the Holiday Inn Holidome on I-70 and Fairlawn and so they hope everyone can attend and more information will be made available.

Councilman Wolgast would like to acknowledge the service that Commissioners Ensley and Thomas and Mayor Bunten for the number of years and sitting through interesting meetings. Also they can take pride in the many things that have been accomplished in the economic development area and their service has been very important to the community.

NO FURTHER BUSINESS appearing the meeting was adjourned at 8:43 p.m.